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§680 Due Process Issues, Generally



Supreme Court applies Mullane test of reasonableness under the circumstances, rather than Mathews v. Eldridge balancing test, in determining whether notice of forfeiture to claimant satisfied due process requirements. (680) “While petitioner was in prison on federal drug charges in 1986, the FBI began an administrative process to forfeit cash that officers had seized when they executed a search warrant for the residence where he was arrested. The statute then in effect required the FBI inter alia to send written notice of the seizure and applicable forfeiture procedures to each party who appeared to have an interest in the property. The FBI sent notice by certified mail addressed to him in the FCI where he was incarcerated; to the address where he was arrested; and to an address in town where his mother lived.”(case syllabus) After a timely response was not received, the FBI turned the cash over to the Marshal. The petitioner then filed a Fed.R.Crim.P. 41(e) motion for return of the funds seized in his criminal case, and the motion was denied. On appeal the Sixth Circuit vacated and remanded, holding that the Rule 41(e) motion should have been construed as a civil complaint seeking equitable relief for a due process challenge to the adequacy of the notice. On remand, the district court presided over a deposition of an FCI officer who stated that he signed the certified mail receipt for the FBI’s notice. The officer also testified about the FCI’s procedures for accepting, logging, and delivering certified mail addressed to inmates. The district court then granted the government’s motion for summary judgment, ruling that its sending of notice by certified mail to petitioner’s place of incarceration satisfied his due process rights, and the Sixth Circuit affirmed. The Supreme Court affirmed the Sixth Circuit decision. In a 5-4 ruling delivered by Chief Justice Rehnquist, the Supreme Court held that the FBI’s notice of the cash forfeiture satisfied due process. The Supreme Court adopted the straightforward reasonableness under the circumstances test of Mullane, rather than the balancing test approach of Mathews v. Eldridge, as the appropriate analytical framework for the due process analysis.  The Supreme Court noted that the FBI’s notice, sent by certified mail to a prison with procedures for delivering mail to the inmate, was reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise the petitioner of the pendency of the forfeiture action and afford him an opportunity to present his objections. The Due Process Clause does not require heroic efforts by the government to assure the notice’s actual delivery, noted the Supreme Court in resolving the split among the circuit courts of appeal on this issue. Dusenbery v. U.S., 122 S Ct. 694 (2002). 
Supreme Court says police need not notify owners of seized property of procedural avenues for its return. (680) California police executed a search warrant at plaintiff’s home, seizing property in connection with a murder investigation of a boarder at the residence. The police left an itemized list of the property seized, as well as a notice form specifying the fact of the search, its date, the searching agency, the date of the warrant, the issuing judge and his court, and the persons to be contacted for further information. The notice did not describe the procedural mechanisms specified under Califor​nia law for obtaining return of seized property. The Ninth Circuit held that the Due Process Clause required an extensive and detailed notice of these state procedures. The Supreme Court reversed, finding that such an “expansive requirement lacks support in or case law and mandates notice not now prescribed by the Federal Government or by any one of the 50 states.” In particular, the appellate court’s ruling would render Fed. R. Crim. P. 41(d) “and every analogous state statute – inadequate as a constitu​tional matter,” a result the Court was unwilling to countenance. However, the Court did endorse (for the first time according to Justice Thomas’ concurrence) the general principle that the Due Process Clause governs the execution of a search warrant and mandates that the government take “reasonable steps to give notice” to the owners of seized property. City of West Covina v. Perkins, 119 S.Ct. 678 (1999).xe "City of West Covina v. Perkins, 119 S.Ct. 678 (1999)."
Supreme Court finds that state forfeiture of a vehicle jointly owned by a married couple and used as the site of an act of prostitution by the husband offended neither due process not the takings clause. (680) Claimant was the joint owner, with her husband, of an auto in which her husband engaged in sexual activity with a prostitute. The Michigan State trial court for​feited the car as a public nuisance, but declined to allow any offset tot he wife because of her lack of knowledge of her husband’s activities. The Michigan Supreme Court sus​tained the trial court. The U.S. Supreme court held that the forfeiture order did not offend the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amend​ment or the takings clause of the Fifth Amendment. Relying on a long line of cases including Van Oster v. Kansas, 272 U.S. 465 (1926), and Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., 416 U.S. 663 (1974), the court reiterated its long-expressed view that an owner’s interest in property put to illegal uses may constitutionally be forfeited despite the owner’s lack of knowledge. As for the takings argument, the court held that the government may not be required to compensate an owner for property already lawfully acquired by exercise of governmental authority other than eminent domain. Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1996).xe "Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1996)."
Supreme Court finds pre-seizure notice and hearing required in civil forfeiture of real property. (680) Approximately 4 1/2 years after drugs were found in respondent's home, the United States filed an in rem action to forfeit the house and surrounding real property. With​out prior notice or an adversary hearing, the govern​ment seized the property and directed payment of future rents to the United States Marshal. The Ninth Circuit held that the seizure of the property without prior notice and a hearing violated the Due Process Clause and that failure to comply with inter​nal reporting rules could require dismissal of the action as untimely. In a 5-4 decision au​thored by Justice Kennedy, the Supreme Court agreed in part with the Ninth Circuit's finding that the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment prohibits the government in a civil forfeiture case from seizing real property without first affording the owner no​tice and an opportunity to be heard. How​ever, a unanimous Court overruled the Ninth Circuit on the issue of timeliness, finding that filing the action within the statute of limita​tions suffices to make it timely and that the cause should not be dismissed for failure to comply with certain other statutory directives for expeditious prosecution in forfeiture cases. U.S. v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 43 (1993).xe "U.S. v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 43 (1993)." 

Supreme Court holds that Customs' failure to follow forfeiture proce​dure did not violate due process. (680) The claimant purchased a car in Europe, and drove it into the United States from Cana​da without de​clar​ing it. It was seized by Customs. Claimant filed a remis​sion pe​tition. Customs failed to reply for 36 days. The Ninth Circuit held this failure con​sti​tut​ed a violation of due process, but the Supreme Court reversed, finding no due process viola​tion. U.S. v. Von Neumann, 474 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 610 (1986).xe "U.S. v. Von Neumann, 474 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 610 (1986)."
Supreme Court holds no pre-seizure hearing is re​quired before property may be seized by the govern​ment. (680) The due process clause does not require the government to serve no​tice and seek a pre-seizure hearing when it seeks to forfeit property. Seizure serves im​portant government purposes by establishing in rem jurisdiction over the property, thus pre​venting further il​licit use and enforcing crimi​nal sanctions. Moreover, pre-seizure notice may result in the property's destruc​tion, conceal​ment, or removal from the jurisdiction. The seizure is not initiated by self-interested private parties, but by the government in the interests of society. The government is thus in a posi​tion to determine whether seizure and forfei​ture are appropriate and permissible un​der the applicable statute. Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., 416 U.S. 663 (1974).xe "Calero-Toledo v. Pearson Yacht Leasing Co., 416 U.S. 663 (1974)."
1st Circuit finds violation of Due Process Clause of Fifth Amendment in seizure of boat. (680) The U.S. Customs Service (USCS) seized a 34 foot boat on the ground that a connection existed between the boat and the owner’s money laundering and drug-trafficking activities. The USCS sent the owner a letter informing him that it believed the vessel had been purchased with the proceeds of unlawful activity and that he could request relief from the impending forfeiture by petitioning for remission. No petition was filed, so a second letter advised the owner that a notice of seizure and intent to forfeit would be published. He was also notified to file a claim and post a bond. The owner timely responded that he had applied for IFP status and attached a completed IFP application to his letter. Eight months later, without ruling on the IFP petition or referring the case to the U.S. Attorney, the USCS informed the owner that it had decided not to pursue the forfeiture but would release the boat to him. The owner was informed that he would have to pay the storage fees for the boat and sign an indemnity agreement; if he did not do so within 30 days, administrative forfeiture proceedings would commence. He did not do so, so the USCS informed him that the boat would be sold and he would be entitled to no money from the sale. The owner then filed suit. The USCS reported three weeks later to the owner that it had sold the boat, there were no excess proceeds, and it regarded the case as closed. The district court found for the USCS on that ground that the owner had not timely responded to the notice of intent to forfeit. The 1st Circuit found that the USCS had unilaterally decided that the owner was responsible for the seizure and storage costs without first having secured a determination that the boat was forfeitable. In fact, the USCS told the owner that it had decided not to pursue forfeiture and closed the case. The 1st Circuit held that this was a fatal omission because, had the owner prevailed in a forfeiture action, he likely would not have been liable for the costs. The 1st Circuit concluded that the way in which the USCS proceeded deprived the owner of his boat without due process in violation of the Fifth Amendment. Vacated and remanded. Gines-Perez v. Kelly, 2003 WL 21478451 (1st Cir., June 27, 2003).

1st Circuit vacates and remands District Court’s sua sponte dismissal for notice analysis under 5th Amendment Due Process Clause.  (680) Nearly six years after initial seizure of two vehicles and more than five years after administrative forfeiture proceedings had been completed, pro se petitioner filed F.R.Crim.P. 41(e) motion to recover vehicles, challenging constitutional sufficiency of process government used to forfeit them. District Court treated motion as civil complaint and summarily dismissed it. Finding sua sponte dismissals “strong medicine” to be dispensed sparingly, 1st Cir. vacated and remanded to District Court to determine whether government’s efforts to notify petitioner were reasonable. If government’s efforts are found not to have attained the constitutional minimum, then 1st Cir. directed District Court to consider government’s affirmative defenses including actual knowledge and laches. Gonzalez-Gonzalez v. U.S., 257 F.3d 31 (1st Cir. 2001).

1st Circuit affirms that court clerk can is​sue arrest warrant in rem for civil forfei​ture without prior de​termination of proba​ble cause. (680) Relying on U.S. v. Pappas, 613 F.2d 324 (1st Cir. 1980), the dis​trict court held that the government must obtain a judicial find​ing of probable cause before "arresting" a property pursuant to a civil for​feiture ac​tion. The 1st Circuit reversed, holding that amended Rule C(3) of the Supple​mental Rules for Certain Admiralty and Maritime Claims clearly allows a deputy court clerk to issue an arrest warrant in rem pursuant to a civil forfeiture com​plaint, with​out a prior determination of probable cause by an independent judi​cial officer. This pro​cedure does not vi​olate the 4th Amendment, since it does not involve a government "seizure" of the real property. The marshal's posting of the arrest warrant serves as notice to the in rem defendant of the civil complaint filed against it. Claimant is not denied access to the property. The warrant merely brings the real property under the jurisdiction of the court. While the posting of an arrest warrant might hin​der an owner's ability to sell the prop​erty, it does not amount to such a depri​vation of property rights so as to war​rant due process protection under the 5th Amend​ment. U.S. v. Twp 17 R 4, Certain Real Property in Maine, 970 F.2d 984 (1st Cir. 1992). xe "U.S. v. Twp 17 R 4, Certain Real Property in Maine, 970 F.2d 984 (1st Cir. 1992).  "
2nd Circuit finds that vehicle owners’ Fifth Amendment due process rights were violated by the post-seizure, pre-judgment retention of seized vehicles used as instrumentalities of crime. (680) Pursuant to its Civil Administrative Code, New York City seizes the motor vehicles of some of those accused of driving while intoxicated and other crimes for which a motor vehicle could be considered an instrumentality. The City maintains possession of the seized vehicles, anticipating gaining title by prevailing in civil forfeiture proceedings. Those proceedings typically follow the resolution of criminal charges against the owners and can take months or years to be finalized. A class of owners from whom vehicles had been seized brought this action. They contended that their inability to challenge, promptly after the vehicles are seized, the legitimacy of and justification for the City’s retention of the vehicles prior to judgment in any civil forfeiture proceeding violated their Fifth Amendment due process rights. The City filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. The Second Circuit held that plaintiffs’ due process rights were violated by the post-seizure, pre-judgment retention of vehicles absent a prompt opportunity to challenge the probable validity of and justification for that deprivation pendente lite. This 26-page-long decision contains a lengthy discussion and analysis of Fifth Amendment due process rights vis-à-vis the civil seizure and forfeiture authority. Class plaintiffs Vacated and remanded. Krimstock v. Kelly, 306 F.3d 40 (2nd Cir. 2002).  

2nd Circuit finds no innocent owner defense against customs forfeitures under 18 U.S.C. §545. (680) The government sought civil in rem forfeiture of a gold platter dating from 400 B.C. (a “Phiale”) after claimant made false statements on customs forms concerning its value and country of origin. Claimant alleged that he was an innocent owner of the Phiale, and should be exempt from forfeiture on that ground. The Second Circuit found the language of the customs forfeiture statute at issue, 18 U.S.C. §545, contained no innocent owner defense. Moreover, under Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442 (1996), there is no due process right to an innocent owner defense. U.S. v. An Antique Platter of Gold, 184 F.3d 131 (2d Cir. 1999).xe "U.S. v. An Antique Platter of Gold, 184 F.3d 131 (2d Cir. 1999)."
2nd Circuit approves notice of adminis​trative forfeiture written in English. (680) Claimant argued that the administrative forfeiture of his money was deficient because the government provided notice of seizure in English, which he was allegedly unable to understand because of his limited knowledge of the language. The 2nd Circuit upheld its jurisdiction to consider the issue, since a court has jurisdiction to correct an administrative forfeiture that is procedurally deficient. The English-language notice satisfied the requirements of due process. The fact that defendant was imprisoned at the time he received notice did not alter this fact. It would be unreasonable to require the government to ascertain and then provide notice in the "preferred" language of a prison inmate or detain​ee, and would also establish an unwarranted favored status for such people. Toure v. U.S., 24 F.3d 444 (2d Cir. 1994).xe "Toure v. U.S., 24 F.3d 444 (2d Cir. 1994)."
2nd Circuit upholds substitution of cashier's check for seized currency. (680) The claimant argued that he was prej​udiced because the cur​rency was "destroyed" when it was re​placed with a cashier's check, thereby depriving him of the opportunity to inspect the actual currency, notes, papers and receipts to prove that the money came from legitimate sources, such as gifts and profits from a restaurant he owned. In Arizona v. Youngblood, 109 S.Ct. 333, 337 (1988), the Supreme Court held that un​less a defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, the destruction of potentially useful evi​dence is not a de​nial of due process. Here, the 2nd Circuit found that the claimant offered no evidence of bad faith. "Moreover, an appropri​ate substitution of monies is permissible in a forfeiture action." U.S. v. U.S. Currency in the Amount of $228,536.00, 895 F.2d 908 (2d Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. U.S. Currency in the Amount of $228,536.00, 895 F.2d 908 (2d Cir. 1990)."
3rd Circuit reverses and remands declaration of administrative forfeiture in prison mailbox rule case. (680) Federal agents arrested claimant on drug-related charges in August 1990 and seized his van for forfeiture the next day. Administrative forfeiture proceedings were begun, but the first notice advising him to file a claim and bond to contest the forfeiture did not reach him since it was mailed to an incorrect prison. A month before the claim filing deadline, he wrote a letter to the FBI asserting ownership of the van and requested IFP status. Two days before his filing deadline, he handed the IFP form to prison authorities for mailing to the FBI. The FBI received the IFP form four days after the deadline. The FBI sent claimant a letter advising that his bond was untimely and that the administrative forfeiture proceedings would continue. Two months later, he filed suit to contest the administrative forfeiture. The district court dismissed his suit for lack of jurisdiction and insufficient service and process, and the 3rd Circuit reversed and remanded. Five years later, the government was granted summary judgment, and claimant appealed. This current holding contains an analysis of the prison mailbox rule, the Supreme Court and recent appellate decisions thereon, and the pre-CAFRA statutory language of 21 U.S. C. Section 881 and 19 U.S. C. Section 1608. The 3rd Circuit applied the prison mailbox rule, Houston v. Lack, 487 U.S. 266 (1988). That rule states that the actual filing date is considered to be the date on which a prisoner transmits documents to prison authorities. That rule was later refined in Fex v. Michigan, 507 U.S. 43 (1993). The 3rd Circuit concluded that since neither the statute nor the regulations require “actual receipt,” the prison mailbox rule applied. Thus, claimant timely contested the administrative forfeiture. The 3rd Circuit concluded by setting aside the administrative forfeiture proceeding without prejudice to the government and equitably tolled the filing deadline to allow the government six months to file a judicial forfeiture action against the van. Reversed and remanded. Longnenette v. Krusing, 2003 WL 911485 (3rd Cir. Mar. 7, 2003).

3rd Circuit upholds use of government infor​mant paid a reward for forfeited assets. (680) Defendant objected to the government's use of an informant who, in return for his co​operation, was to receive a reward of up to 25 percent of the value of any forfeited property. Although this objection might have more properly been brought by motion prior to trial, the 3rd Circuit considered the issue on the merits, since current information concern​ing the govern​ment's re​ward policy was not made avail​able to defendant until the eve of trial. The 3rd Circuit rejected defen​dant's contention that the use of such a "contingent fee oper​ative" violated due pro​cess. Al​though conced​ing that the in​formant's chances of col​lecting the reward were probably enhanced by defen​dant's conviction, the use of the informant was not out​rageous. The informant's payment was properly a mat​ter for the jury to consider in as​sessing the informant's credibility. U.S. v. Gon​zales, 927 F.2d 139 (3d Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Gon​zales, 927 F.2d 139 (3d Cir. 1991)."
4th Circuit finds that defendant is entitled to hearing to determine whether untainted assets have been seized and whether he requires those assets to hire counsel, where Customs agent admitted that some of the seized goods were legitimate. (680) Customs agents executed search warrants at defendant’s residence and warehouse and seized for civil forfeiture pallets of sports clothing, vehicles, $160,000 in cashier’s checks and $380,000 in U.S. currency. The assets seized were related to the defendant’s alleged illegal counterfeiting of clothing trademarks. Defendant filed two Rule 41(e) motions that were denied, and the ongoing criminal investigation continued. No civil forfeiture action was ever commenced. Defendant was indicted two years after his assets were seized, and the indictment included a criminal forfeiture count against the seized items. Defendant then filed a motion to determine if a portion of the seized funds should be released so that he could pay defense costs. The S.C. district court denied that motion, and he appealed. The Fourth Circuit concluded that he had advanced a “private interest” in obtaining a pre-trial hearing when his assets were restrained pursuant to the criminal forfeiture statute. The Fourth Circuit noted that this private interest would be absent if he possessed the means to hire an attorney independently of the assets seized. The private interest was based on his affidavit that he was effectively rendered indigent by the seizure of the funds. The Fourth Circuit was concerned that a Customs agent had admitted to the defendant’s attorney that some of the seized clothing and merchandise was legitimate. The Fourth Circuit concluded that due process required a limited hearing so defendant could challenge the government’s probable cause and to determine whether untainted assets had been seized. The Fourth Circuit vacated and remanded with directions to hold a hearing to determine whether the government was restraining untainted, legitimate assets and whether those assets were necessary for defendant to hire counsel for his criminal defense. U.S. v. Farmer, 274 F.3d 800 (4th Cir. 2001).

4th Circuit holds that court may enjoin dispo​sition of substitute assets belonging to fugitive RICO defendant. (680) De​fendant was in​dicted on various RICO viola​tions which caused the failure of a savings and loan asso​ciation. The in​dictment charged defendant and others with transferring $22,000,000 to Swiss bank accounts. Defendant fled the country, but later wired $500,000 to an accomplice in the United States. The district court found that the stolen RICO funds were not the source of wired money, and therefore it had no jurisdiction to en​join the disposition of the funds pending trial. The 4th Circuit disagreed, ruling that the district court did have jurisdic​tion to enjoin the disposi​tion of the wired funds. Under the RICO forfeiture statute, a money judgment can be satisfied out of any of the defen​dant's assets. The possession of the wired funds by defen​dant's accomplice did not defeat the government's right to those funds, since the accomplice was not a bona fide pur​chaser for value. The 4th Circuit also rejected the accom​plice's ar​gument that the continued restraint of the funds vi​olated her 6th Amend​ment right to counsel and due process. In Re Assets of Billman, 915 F.2d 916 (4th Cir. 1990).xe "In Re Assets of Billman, 915 F.2d 916 (4th Cir. 1990)."
4th Circuit holds civil forfeiture statute vio​lates neither 8th Amendment nor due process. (680) Although the Fourth and Fifth Amend​ments apply to civil forfeitures, the Fourth Cir​cuit refused to extend the protection of the due process clause and the 8th Amendment to the civil forfeiture statute, 21 U.S.C. §881. Fol​lowing other circuit decisions, the court held that encumbering the statute with criminal pro​cedural safeguards would be con​trary to Con​gress' intent to make such pro​ceedings civil in nature. U.S. v. Santoro, 866 F.2d 1538 (4th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. Santoro, 866 F.2d 1538 (4th Cir. 1989)."
5th Circuit upholds seizure of property al​leged to be in vi​olation of food and drug laws. (680) The gov​ernment ap​plied to the district court for a warrant to seize property al​leged to be in violation of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cos​metic Act. After the warrant was issued, another judge in the same district court re​scinded the seizure and or​dered the re​turn of the prop​erty. Despite claimant's con​tention that the seizure was based upon inaccu​rate factual informa​tion, the 5th Cir​cuit upheld the seizure, ruling that when a com​plaint which complies with the provi​sions of the admi​ralty rules seeks for​feiture of articles of property alleged to be in violation of the federal food and drug laws, the gov​ernment is entitled to se​cure a warrant and main​tain its seizure on the property until a court hears the mer​its of the conflicting claim. To bal​ance a claimant's due process rights with the interests of public health, a hearing on the merits should be scheduled at the promptest date possible considering the court's emer​gency calendar and the ability of the parties to prepare and present the contro​versy to the court. U.S. v. Pro​plast II, 946 F.2d 422 (5th Cir. 1991).xe "U.S. v. Pro​plast II, 946 F.2d 422 (5th Cir. 1991)."
6th Circuit sustains constitutionality of shifting burden of proof to claimant. (680) In common with other federal civil forfeiture statutes, 19 U.S.C. §1615 states that the claimant bears the burden of proof in a forfeiture action after the government has proven probable cause for the forfeiture. Claimant contended that shifting the burden of proof in this manner is a violation of the Due Process Clause. Over a dissent by Judge Clay, the Sixth Circuit adhered to its voluminous precedent sustaining this allocation of burdens of proof against constitu​tional challenge. U.S. v. Four Contig​uous Parcels of Real Property, 191 F.3d 461 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Four Contiguous Parcels of Real Property, 191 F.3d 461 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit rules drug forfeiture statute is retroactive. (680) Defendant was convicted in 1973 and 1974 of conspiracy to distribute marijuana. In 1991, he was again arrested on drug charges. Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §881(a)(6), the government sought to forfeit real property in Tennessee that defendant had purchased in 1989, on the theory that the property was the proceeds of drug trafficking. Defendant testified that the property was purchased with money he made from drug trafficking in the 1970’s, which he had hidden and hoarded until the 1980’s. He argued that §881(a)(6) was not amended to cover the proceeds of drug trafficking until November 10, 1978, and therefore did not cover drug money received before its effective date. The Sixth Circuit disagreed. Citing Landgraf v. USI Film Products, 511 U.S. 244 (1994), it held that the statute “did not attach new legal consequences to events completed before its enactment,” and could properly be applied retroactively. Drug trafficking has always been illegal and defendant never had any vested right to money garnered from that activity. In addition, the court held that the money defendant earned in the drug trade did not become “proceeds” under the statute until it was used to purchase the real estate in issue. [Ed. Note: This is a very odd holding. Its implications in other settings are unclear.] U.S. v. Four Tracts of Property on the Waters of Leiper’s Creek, 181 F.3d 104 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished). xe "U.S. v. Four Tracts of Property on the Waters of Leiper’s Creek, 181 F.3d 104 (6th Cir. 1999) (table) (unpublished)."
6th Circuit finds notice of state forfeiture lien to counsel of record is constitutionally suf​ficient. (680) Ohio law enforcement officers sought to forfeit plaintiffs’ residence under a state corrupt activity statute. The law permitted the filing of a lien against affected property once an indictment naming the property had been returned. Plaintiffs here claimed, inter alia, that they had not received proper notice of the lien because the local prosecutor sent several copies of it to them by certified mail, but all were returned without a signed return receipt. The Sixth Circuit found it sufficient for constitutional purposes that the prosecutor also sent a copy to plaintiffs’ criminal attorney, who did sign a receipt for the notice. Aronson v. City of Akron, 116 F.3d 804 (6th Cir. 1997).xe "Aronson v. City of Akron, 116 F.3d 804 (6th Cir. 1997)." 

8th Circuit upholds probable cause to for​feit cash seized from house identified by informants as lo​cation of drug transac​tions. (680) The 8th Circuit af​firmed that there was probable cause to forfeit cash seized from claimants' residence. At least two confi​dential informants identified the residence as a loca​tion for drug transactions. Police surveillance of the resi​dence, coupled with prior activity on the block, revealed a high volume of traffic entering and leaving the resi​dence. The money seized from the resi​dence was wrapped in rubber bands, which a narcotics offi​cer tes​tified was characteristic of the way drug money is stored. Finally, two months after the search, a DEA agent pur​chased cocaine from one of the claimant's daughters in front of the residence. The dis​trict court could properly reject claimants' "inherently incredible" testimony. Judge Beam dis​sented, believing that a statute that permits an owner of non-contraband prop​erty to be divested of title by a mere showing of proba​ble cause for the institution of forfeiture proceedings vi​olates due process. U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992).xe "U.S. v. Twelve Thousand, Three Hundred Ninety Dollars ($12,390.00), 956 F.2d 801 (8th Cir. 1992)."
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Ninth Circuit holds that claimant is not entitled to consequential damages for interlocutory sale of defendant property that ultimately was not forfeited and claimant was entitled to receive only proceeds from sale of property, which constituted fair market value. (305) (680)
Defendant was convicted on several counts related to his participation in a coast-to-coast cocaine smuggling conspiracy. An aircraft and real property were originally part of two different civil forfeiture cases as proceeds of drug trafficking after unsuccessfully pursuing criminal forfeiture proceedings. The district court granted the government's motion for summary judgment on the consolidated civil proceedings, and executed a Final Decree of Forfeiture. On appeal, however, the court could not determine based on the record whether the government had met its initial burden of establishing probable cause linking the property to the drug trade and remanded to the district court to make that determination. It also held that the government's admissible evidence failed to establish probable cause for the forfeiture of the aircraft. On remand, the government declined to submit additional evidence showing probable cause, effectively conceding that neither property was subject to forfeiture. By this time, however, the district court had permitted the government to sell the aircraft (over Defendant's objection) while forfeiture proceedings were pending and the real property was sold after the district court's final decree of forfeiture. Because the property had been sold, the district court directed the parties to confer in order to reach a settlement on the amount owed. The parties disagreed over the amount due Defendant, who argued that he was entitled to 1) damages for his loss of use and enjoyment of the property, 2) damages for the rental value of the property, and 3) the fair market value of the property at the time of return. The district court denied Defendant's request for additional compensation, and he appealed. He first contended that the government's seizure and forfeiture of his property violated his Fifth Amendment due process rights and that he was therefore entitled to be “made whole” by recovering consequential damages for his loss of use and enjoyment, and the rental value of his property from the date of seizure to the date of sale. The Court held that while it is true that a claimant must be made whole when he or she has suffered an unconstitutional seizure, it found that Defendant suffered no due process violation. The return of the property was thus governed only by 28 U.S.C. § 2465, which Defendant contended requires that he receive consequential damages. However, nothing in the text of section 2465 provides for the payment of consequential damages and “requires only that, if the claimant prevails in a forfeiture proceeding, ‘the property seized’ shall be returned to the claimant; it does not say ‘the equivalent value of the property seized’ shall be returned. The statute's silence on the issue is particularly significant because permitting consequential damages would constitute a waiver of sovereign immunity, but without “clear and explicit” language waiving immunity, it would be improper to construe the statute to permit consequential damages against the government. Also, the legislative history shows the statute's purpose was actually “to insulate the government from, rather than broaden the government's exposure to, liability for costs or damages for initially reasonable but ultimately improvident seizures. Finally, because the property had already been sold, the district court properly determined that Defendant was entitled to receive the value of the property that had been sold. The value of property on the date of sale is the proper measure of the substitution of money for return of the property. Moreover, the district court's determination of fair market value of the aircraft was supported by the government's experts' appraisals, which the court was entitled to rely on over Defendant's expert's post hoc appraisal. U.S. v. Plunk, 2007 WL 4463927 (9th Cir. 2007) (December 21, 2007).

9th Circuit holds due process and excessive fines claims not cognizable under §2255. (680) Petitioner was convicted of racketeering, conspiracy, and money laundering. He later filed a motion under 28 U.S.C. §2255 seeking (1) to vacate the forfeiture on the grounds that it violated both the Due Process and Excessive Fines Clauses, and (2) to vacate his criminal conviction and sentence on the ground that a prior civil forfeiture action constituted former jeopardy and thus barred his prosecution. The Ninth Circuit ruled that the challenge to the forfeiture was not cognizable under Section 2255, “which confers jurisdiction only over challenges to one’s conviction or sentence.” The court also rejected the double jeopardy claim on the merits, citing U.S. v. Ursery, 518 U.S. 267 (1996) (holding that “in rem civil forfeitures are neither ‘punishment’ nor criminal for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause). U.S. v. Gable, 112 F.3d 517 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished).xe "U.S. v. Gable, 112 F.3d 517 (9th Cir. 1997) (table) (unpublished)."
9th Circuit rejects constitutional challenge to burden of proof in civil forfeitures. (680) The government seized from claimant, and later civilly forfeited as drug proceeds, over $127,000 in cash. Claimant argued that allowing the government to civilly forfeit property on a mere showing of probable cause violates Due Process because such forfeitures are quasi-criminal, constitute a form of punishment, and should not be possible on so insubstantial an evidentiary showing. The Ninth Circuit disagreed. It noted that the true burden of proof in civil forfeiture is preponderance of the evidence, albeit the claimant bears the burden upon a threshold government showing of probable cause. It is only where the defendant elects to introduce no evidence of a non-drug-related source for the property that the government can obtain forfeiture on its preliminary probable cause showing. The court found no constitutional defect in the allocation of burden of proof in current civil forfeiture law. U.S. v. $129,727.00 U.S. Currency, 129 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997).xe "U.S. v. $129,727.00 U.S. Currency, 129 F.3d 486 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit suggests INS vehicle forfeiture regulations violate due process. (680) Plaintiffs, whose vehicles had been seized pursuant to 8 U.S.C. §1324(b) for alleged immigration violations, brought a class action claiming that INS vehicle forfeiture regulations and practices were unconstitutional. The district court refused to certify the class, dismissed the constitutional claims on grounds of lack of jurisdiction and waiver, and in the case of the Eighth Amendment claims, on the merits. The Ninth Circuit reversed, strongly suggesting that INS vehicle forfeiture regulations are unconstitu​tional, both facially and as applied. Unlike the customs regulations followed in other areas of forfeiture, INS regulations do not require (and the INS does not provide) notice of the specific statute alleged to have been violated or of the factual basis for the seizure. Also, vehicle owners who opt for administrative rather than judicial review of seizures receive only a “personal interview” with an INS official, rather than a more complete adversarial hearing, and if the vehicle is forfeited, no statement of reasons is provided. The appellate panel said jurisdiction existed to consider these issues even though plaintiffs opted for administrative rather than judicial forfeiture. It remanded to reconsider the merits and the class certification. Judge Reavely dissented, arguing that plaintiffs waived their right to judicial review of these forfeitures by opting for administrative forfeiture proceedings. Gete v. Immigration and Naturalization Service, 121 F.3d 1285 (9th Cir. 1997).xe "Gete v. Immigration and Naturalization Service, 121 F.3d 1285 (9th Cir. 1997)."
9th Circuit says depriving defendant of his car for five months did not constitute jeo​par​dy. (680) Defendant argued that he was punished within the meaning of the double jeopardy clause by being deprived of his car for five months, even though the car was eventually returned without forfeiture. The Ninth Circuit ruled that this was essentially a due process argument, not a double jeopardy argument, and rejected it. U.S. v. Wong, 62 F.3d 1212 (9th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. Wong, 62 F.3d 1212 (9th Cir. 1995)."
9th Circuit distinguishes between criminal and civil as​pects of civil forfeiture actions. (680) Civil forfeiture actions con​stitute a hy​brid procedure of mixed civil and criminal law el​ements. Because civil forfeiture statutes aid in the enforce​ment of criminal laws, courts have de​veloped limited consti​tutional criminal law protections for owner-claimants. Thus both the 4th and 5th Amendments apply but not the double jeopardy clause nor the Federal Rules of Criminal Proce​dure. Once the gov​ernment shows probable cause to believe that the property was used in violation of federal drug laws, the burden of proof shifts to the claimant to show that no probable cause ex​isted. Due process does not required an im​mediate post-depriva​tion hearing, as long as for​feiture proceedings are commenced without unreason​able delay. Thus in evaluating whether a claimant's rights have been re​spected, the 9th Circuit found it nec​essary to "clearly distin​guish between the criminal and civil aspects of civil forfeiture actions." U.S. v. One 1985 Mercedes, 917 F.2d 415 (9th Cir. 1990).xe "U.S. v. One 1985 Mercedes, 917 F.2d 415 (9th Cir. 1990)."
9th Circuit holds that after state officer seized his au​tomobile, claimant lacked standing to object to subse​quent federal seizure. (680) The claimant argued that the DEA's warrantless seizure of his automobile from the state vio​lated 21 U.S.C. §881(b) and the U.S. Constitu​tion. The 9th Circuit rejected the ar​gument, holding that the claimant "lacked a legiti​mate expecta​tion of privacy in his auto​mobile after state officers lawfully had seized it, sufficient to assert a Fourth Amendment objection to the federal seizure." The court added that "[n]or is there any requirement of preseizure notice and hearing in a forfeiture case." U.S. v. One 1985 Cadillac Seville, 866 F.2d 1142 (9th Cir. 1989).xe "U.S. v. One 1985 Cadillac Seville, 866 F.2d 1142 (9th Cir. 1989)."
9th Circuit holds that improper seizure of as​sets did not warrant reversal of conviction. (680) Due process re​quires the district court to hold an immediate hearing on the propriety of a 21 U.S.C. §848(d) restrain​ing order freezing defendant's assets. However the fail​ure to hold a hearing here had nothing to do with the defendant's guilt or innocence on the criminal charges, and therefore did not warrant reversal of the conviction. U.S. v. Ray, 731 F.2d 1361 (9th Cir. 1984).xe "U.S. v. Ray, 731 F.2d 1361 (9th Cir. 1984)."
11th Circuit finds civil forfeiture not type of case for which prisoners guaranteed right of access to courts. (680) A federal pre-trial detainee brought an action under 42 U.S. §1983 and Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of the Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388 (1971), alleging that the lack of a prison library in the city jail where he was housed prevented him from pursuing a civil forfeiture case, and thus denied him his right of access to the courts guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment. The Eleventh Circuit held that a civil forfeiture case is remedial in nature and thus “is not a type of case that is included under the right of inmates’ access to courts” under the authority of Lewis v. Casey, 518 U.S. 343 (1996). Wilson v. Blankenship, 163 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 1998).xe "Wilson v. Blankenship, 163 F.3d 1284 (11th Cir. 1998)."
11th Circuit rules that remedy for illegal seizure is dismissal of forfeiture action. (680) Claimant argued that the government's failure to afford him notice and a hearing before seizing his real property violated due process, and that the remedy was dismissal of the forfeiture complaint. The Eleventh Circuit agreed that the seizure was illegal, and that the proper remedy was dismissal of the forfeiture complaint. Claimant did not receive notice or a hearing before issuance of the warrants seizing his properties, as required by U.S. v. U.S. v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 43 (1993). The government did not allege or establish the existence of exigent circumstances that might have justified an ex parte seizure. The proper remedy was dismissal of the forfeiture complaint, rather than merely excluding the illegally seized evidence from trial and requiring the government to pay any rents accrued during the illegal seizure. Suppres​sion of seized evidence provides no remedy at all when the purpose of the seizure is not to acquire evidence but to assert a possessory interest over the property. Any remedy short of dismissal would vitiate the purpose of Good. U.S. v. 2751 Peyton Woods Trail, S.W., 66 F.3d 1164 (11th Cir. 1995).xe "U.S. v. 2751 Peyton Woods Trail, S.W., 66 F.3d 1164 (11th Cir. 1995)."
11th Circuit holds that claimant's extradition did not make brief delay in initiating for​feiture violate due process. (680) On August 25, DEA agents arrested claimant and seized $52,800 in currency from his residence. However, DEA did not send a notice of forfeiture to claimant until October 31. The district court held that the delay in initiating forfeiture proceedings violated due process because of claimant's extradition to Canada. The 11th Circuit reversed, noting that the delay between the seizure and the initiation of proceedings was relatively short, there was no evidence of bad faith on the part of the government, and claimant could have avoided the prejudice by asserting his rights. There are several means by which a claimant may assert his rights to a prompt post-seizure hearing, including filing a claim and cost bond, filing an equitable action to compel the filing of a forfeiture action, and informally requesting the agency to refer the matter to the U.S. attorney. Claimant waited three months before filing a claim and cost bond. Claimant was also dilatory in asserting his rights after the judicial forfeiture proceeding was initiated. He took no action to expedite the trial, even though he knew extradition was imminent. U.S. v. Fifty-Two Thousand and Eight Hundred Dollars ($52,800.00) in U.S. Currency and Interest, 38 F.3d 761 (11th Cir. 1994).xe "U.S. v. Fifty-Two Thousand and Eight Hundred Dollars ($52,800.00) in U.S. Currency and Interest, 38 F.3d 761 (11th Cir. 1994)."
11th Circuit upholds INS forfeiture proceed​ings. (680) The Immigration and Naturaliza​tion Service had seized several vehicles be​longing to the claimants alleging that they were used for alien smuggling. The 11th Circuit held that due process does not require all probable cause hearings to be held within 72 hours of the claimant's request as the district court had ordered. When a forfeiture pro​ceeding is required by law (as it is under 8 U.S.C. §1324) or when the claim​ant has filed a claim for return and a cost bond, the due process notice require​ment is fulfilled as long as such actions are timely filed. Due pro​cess timeliness require​ments are not to be de​termined by fixed, rigid standards. Gonzales v. Rivkind, 858 F.2d 657 (11th Cir. 1988).xe "Gonzales v. Rivkind, 858 F.2d 657 (11th Cir. 1988)."
D.C. District Court says filing lis pendens without notice not due process violation, but using it as settlement leverage is. (240) The government filed an in rem civil forfeiture action against several pieces of real property belonging to a suspected drug trafficker and his wife. Arrest warrants for the property were obtained and copies posted at the property. The government also filed lis pendens in Maryland land records. The wife filed a claim to the property, and argued, inter alia, that posting the warrants and filing the lis pendens amounted to a deprivation of property rights without prior notice and hearing in violation of U.S. v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 43 (1993). The D.C. District Court held that neither posting the warrants nor filing the lis pendens violated the rule of Good. However, the court went on to say that the government did commit a due process violation when it used the lis pendens on the house where claimant lived as leverage to force a settlement regarding a second parcel. The court dismissed the forfeiture action as against both properties without prejudice. U.S. v. Property Identified as Lot Numbered 718, 20 F.Supp.2d 27 (D.C.D.C. 1998).
Federal Court of Claims holds that it does not have jurisdiction over takings claim based on a federal forfeiture where the plaintiffs failed to protect their interest in the property by timely answering the government's forfeiture complaint. (680) Plaintiffs entered into a 25-year agreement to lease a residence and lived there for about two years, when the landlord was indicted by a grand jury for money laundering and other federal crimes. The lease agreement gave the plaintiffs a first option to purchase the property, which they attempted to enforce a year later. The landlord refused to sell the property, causing the plaintiffs to file a quiet title action in state court. The landlord failed to appear (most likely due to his subsequent conviction and incarceration.) The court entered a default judgment against him in the quiet title action and the plaintiffs attempted to enforce the judgment and acquire legal title to the property. While the quiet title action was pending, the United States filed a complaint for forfeiture in rem against the property. The plaintiffs filed a statement of interest in the forfeiture action but did not file an answer to the complaint. The district court held them in default and granted the forfeiture. Plaintiffs filed a complaint in the Court of Claims alleging that the forfeiture constituted a taking of their real property without just compensation required by the Fifth Amendment. The Court, however, held that it did not have jurisdiction over a Fifth Amendment takings claim based on the federal government's in rem forfeiture of property when the plaintiff could have participated in the proceedings; the civil forfeiture proceedings had allowed them an opportunity to assert their rights and protect their interest in the property by timely answering the government's complaint, which they did not do. Moreover, if the government properly effectuates a forfeiture in rem, then a compensable Fifth Amendment taking has not occurred. Hammitt v. U.S., — Fed.Cl. —, 2005 WL 3485957 (Fed.Cl. 2005) (Dec. 20, 2005).

California District Court affirms forfeiture under 31 U.S.C. §5317 is civil, and claimant not entitled to criminal procedures. (680) Defendant was convicted of smuggling 56 tons of marijuana and hashish into Northern California, and the government also seized and forfeited $292,888.04 in cash for violation of currency reporting requirements, pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §5317. In a Rule 60(b) motion, claimant asserted that he had been denied due process because §5317 is criminal in character, thus entitling him to criminal procedures such as the right to a jury trial and to counsel. The district court reaffirmed that §5317 forfeitures are civil in rem proceedings in which a claimant is not constitutionally entitled to the procedural attributes of a criminal case. U.S. v. $292,888.04, 1999 WL 1012320 (N.D. Cal. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. $292,888.04, 1999 WL 1012320 (N.D. Cal. 1999) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Florida District Court lacked jurisdiction to review merits of administrative forfeiture, where defendant received adequate notice of the proceedings. (680) Wade was stopped while driving and a bag containing $25,000 was found and seized. His house was later searched and $3,000 was seized there.  He was thereafter found guilty of various narcotics violations and sentenced to life in prison.  Meanwhile, DEA provided Wade written notice of the administrative forfeiture of the currencies, both to his Florida address and to the jail. The jail notice was returned as undeliverable. The DEA then sent a third notice to another jail, and that was accepted. He responded to the third notice and stated he was unable to make bond. The DEA rejected his claim and allowed him 20 days to correct the defect. The DEA then sent in forma pauperis documents to him at another jail, where delivery was accepted. After Wade failed to file a proper and timely claim or to request an extension, DEA declared the currency forfeited. Two weeks later, his in forma pauperis application arrived at DEA. Wade then filed a Fed.R.Crim.P. 41(e) motion for return of the forfeited currency, which the government mistakenly did not oppose. Further litigation ensued, and the district court granted Wade’s Rule 41(e) motion as unopposed. Thereafter, the district court found that the court lacked jurisdiction to review the merits of the DEA administrative forfeiture because Wade had received adequate notice of the proceedings. The Middle District of Florida district court thus vacated the grant of the Rule 41(e) motion as unopposed, and also denied Wade’s renewed Rule 41(e) motion. U.S. v. Wade, 230 F.Supp.2d 1298 (M.D. Fla. 2002).   

Florida District Court holds that restraining defendant’s funds needed to retain counsel violates due process. (680) After former Panamanian President Manuel Noriega was arrested, the U.S. government persuaded foreign countries to freeze his bank accounts containing millions of dollars, without a hearing, Noriega argued that he needed these funds in order to retain counsel. The district court ruled that the government violated due process by causing these assets to be frozen without first holding a hearing at which Noriega could challenge the government’s claims that the funds were linked to drug trafficking. U.S. v. Noriega, 746 F.Supp. 154 (S.D.Fla. 1990).xe "U.S. v. Noriega, 746 F.Supp. 154 (S.D.Fla. 1990)."
Illinois district court finds that notice mailed to jail where defendant was being held, to his defense attorney and to three houses in which he held interest is sufficient. (680) Defendant pled guilty to narcotics violations and in his plea agreement specifically conceded that his residence was subject to forfeiture. The plea agreement also forfeited his interest in two other parcels of real property. The government then filed civil actions against the two additional parcels of real property, and negotiated a settlement with his relatives who claimed an ownership interest in the two properties. The N.D. Illinois district court held that he could not challenge the forfeiture of his interest in the real properties because the plea agreement specifically forfeited his interest in the properties. Additionally, the government instituted administrative forfeiture proceedings against currency seized from him when he was arrested. He filed a F.R.Crim.P. 41(e) motion for return of the currency, claiming that he never received notice of the administrative forfeiture proceedings. The government showed that notice was sent to him at the jail where he was being held at the time of the administrative forfeiture proceedings, to his criminal defense attorney, and to three residences in which he had an ownership interest. Citing Dusenbery, the N.D. Illinois district court found no due process notice violation and granted the government summary judgment. Berrum v. U.S., 2003 WL 21078040 (N.D. Ill., May 13, 2002).

Illinois District Court denies request for pretrial hearing on validity of vehicle seizures. (680) Defendant was indicted for marijuana trafficking and the indictment sought criminal forfeiture of two vehicles, a pickup truck and a forklift, allegedly used in the drug operation. The government seized the two vehicles and moved for a restraining order under 21 U.S.C. §853(e)(A) to enjoin the defendant and others from selling or encumbering them. (The government agreed that such an order could only extend to the defendant or his agents and employees.) Defendant opposed the motion, and moved for the return of the vehicles, or in the alternative, for a pretrial hearing at which the government would be obliged to establish probable cause that he committed the underlying offense and that the vehicles were subject to forfeiture. The district court denied defendant’s motion for a hearing, which it characterized as an unjustifiable request for a “mini-trial.” In rare circumstances such a hearing might be granted, but only where a defendant raises a bona fide issue about whether the seized property could be traced to the alleged illegal conduct. That was not the case here. U.S. v. Lugo, 63 F.Supp.2d 896 (N.D. Ill. 1999).xe "U.S. v. Lugo, 63 F.Supp.2d 896 (N.D. Ill. 1999)."
Illinois District Court finds forfeiture claimants have no due process right to preservation of evidence. (680) Chicago police executed a warrant on claimants’ home and found cocaine in the basement. Although claimants were found not guilty of possession of the cocaine in state court, the federal government nonetheless sought civil forfeiture of the house. During the discovery process, claimants requested a sample of the purported cocaine for independent testing. The government replied that it no longer had the drugs, and claimants moved for summary judgment on the ground that they had a due process right to examine and test the evidence. The district court noted that not even criminal defendants have an absolute right to the preservation of evidence. Criminal defendants must show bad faith in the destruction of potentially useful evidence before being entitled to relief. These claimants showed neither bad faith nor any proof that the evidence was potentially helpful. The court noted in particular claimants’ stipulation in the state criminal trial that the substance was indeed cocaine. Claimants motion was denied. U.S. v. 4333 South Washtenaw Avenue, 1997 WL 587755 (N.D. Ill. 1997) (not reported in F.Supp.).xe "U.S. v. 4333 South Washtenaw Avenue, 1997 WL 587755 (N.D. Ill. 1997) (not reported in F.Supp.)."
Illinois District Court upholds Chicago vehicle forfeiture ordinances. (680) Plaintiffs sought compensatory and injunctive relief against the City of Chicago after their cars were seized pursuant to a city ordinance. Plaintiffs alleged that the ordinances “as written and enforced” violated the Fourteenth Amendment because they failed to provide a prompt post-deprivation hearing, and because they precluded an innocent owner defense during adminis​trative hearings. The district court found no due process violation. The challenged ordinances provide for a prelim​inary hearing within 24 hours of seizure, and a final hearing at a later date. The fact that the City has no obligation to notify record owners prior to the preliminary hearing was not dispositive. Officers are obliged to notify the person in control of the vehicle about the right to a hearing. This notice satisfies due process. The court cited Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1996), in finding that there is no substantive due process right to raise an innocent owner defense in a vehicle forfeiture case. Forfeiture of personal property used in crime has the salutary effect of encouraging owners to exercise care in supervising the use of their property by others. Towers v. City of Chicago, 979 F.Supp. 708 (N.D. Ill. 1997).xe "Towers v. City of Chicago, 979 F.Supp. 708 (N.D. Ill. 1997)."
Massachusetts district court holds that although it was deeply troubled that government seized boat with multiple owners upon only probable cause and sold boat without providing sufficient notice of forfeiture proceedings, amount paid at auction was market value and claimant was entitled to only his proportional share of sale proceeds. (680) The government seized a sloop formerly owned by President John F. Kennedy on the ground that the purchase of the boat was traceable to drug proceeds, and Lane, a Florida physician who was a partial owner, knew of the seizure but did nothing because he was undergoing a credentialing process at the hospital where he worked and did not want to become associated with the tainted vessel. With the exception of one other person who came forward, the government sought and received entry of default against all interested owners. The government, however, failed to provide adequate notice of the forfeiture proceeding and Lane did not learn of it until after default had been entered. By the time Lane was able to set aside the default following an appeal, the government had sold the sloop. The government reached a settlement with the other claimant whereby the government would sell the sloop and receive two-thirds of the proceeds and the other claimant one-third. The parties had to agree on offers made by potential buyers before accepting. Notwithstanding the entry of default judgment, Lane continued to press his case, and filed a Rule 60(b) motion seeking relief from the judgment asserting that he was an innocent part-owner and that the government failed to take reasonable steps to notify him of the forfeiture proceedings. The court denied his motion and Lane appealed, but said he would stipulate to an interlocutory sale of the boat provided that a minimum reserve was set and his share of the proceeds was held in escrow. The court denied Lane’s motion for a stay but entered an order stating that Lane could attempt to work out an escrow arrangement with the government as to the amount he claimed. When Lane and the government could not reach agreement, the boat was displayed as part of an auction of Kennedy memorabilia and received one bid for $100,000, which was accepted. After the government deducted costs, the other claimant received his one-third share and the remainder was placed into the Asset Forfeiture Fund. Eight months later, the First Circuit held that the constitutionally required advance notice-in-fact of forfeiture proceedings required that, in this case, the government at least could have asked the other claimant if he knew the names of his fellow investors. The court could not determine on the record whether Lane had been afforded adequate due process. On remand, the government did not deny it could have tracked down Lane, and this the district court set aside the default judgment as void. The government then moved for partial summary judgment, highlighting three disputed issues: (1) the forfeitability of the sloop; (2) the value of the sloop; and (3) the validity and scope of Lane's ownership claim. Lane filed a cross-motion for partial summary judgment with respect to the forfeitability and value of the sloop. The government contended the sloop was worth no more than the $100,000 that it sold for at auction, and that the auction of Kennedy memorabilia received significant publicity including mentions on Good Morning America and the Today Show with Katie Couric. The court stated it was difficult to imagine more favorable conditions for the sale of the sloop. Lane observed that the sloop received a bid of $800,000 in a 1998 auction; however, this bid did not establish the value of the vessel seven years later in 2005, after the value of other Kennedy memorabilia declined substantially. Thus, the court found that the price that the sloop sold for at auction reflected its fair market value at the time of its seizure. As for forfeitability, the court found that $16,000 in drug proceeds were paid by a third party in exchange for a percentage of profits on the sale of the sloop; however, this did not render the entire vessel forfeitable. The expectancy interest traded using drug proceeds, informal security, is what was forfeitable. Thus, the court ruled that the sloop was not forfeitable, and the government had no interest in the sloop and therefore no right to dispose of the sloop. The court stated that it was deeply troubling and perhaps unconstitutional for the government to seize property with multiple owners upon probable cause, sell the property, and when the sale is adjudicated improper, say to an innocent claimant, “Prove the extent of your interest and we'll give that proportion back,” and for the government to pocket the difference. Lane thus was entitled to the return of the substitute res ($100,000) less the sum paid to the other claimant should the government successfully prove that the proportional share was at least equal to the amount paid to that claimant. In re One Star Class Sloop Sailboat Built in 1930 with Hull Number 721, Named “Flash II,” 2007 WL 2828871 (D. Mass.) (October 1, 2007).

Michigan District Court holds that delay of 29 months between the seizure of funds and the start of civil forfeiture proceeding did not violate due process. (680) Airport Customs agents seized six negotiable checks totaling $191,000 and $8,600 in cash from claimant as she attempted to leave the United States without properly reporting them, as required by 31 U.S.C. Section 5316. She had listed $9,000 on the CMIR form. The government filed an in rem action under CAFRA and sought summary judgment. The E.D. Michigan district court found that the government had met its threshold burden of demonstrating that the funds were subject to forfeiture when the record undisputedly established that claimant knowingly transported monetary instruments of value exceeding $10,000 without reporting the amount to Customs agents.  Because she herself committed the act which gave rise to the forfeiture--her failure to report--she could not assert the innocent owner defense. The E.D. Michigan held that a delay of 29 months between the seizure of the checks and funds and the commencement of civil forfeiture proceedings did not violate claimant’s due process rights. However, because genuine issues of material fact existed regarding the husband’s innocent owner defense, the government’s motion was denied. U.S. v. Six Negotiable Checks in Various Denominations, 2002 WL 1406877 (E.D. Mich. 2002).
Missouri District Court upholds state law authorizing seizure of obscene materials. (680) The St. Louis Police Department obtained and executed a warrant for seizure of magazines and videos from plaintiff’s “adult business.” The warrant was issued under a Missouri statute, R.S. Mo. §542.281, which authorizes warrants to search and seize for evidentiary purposes material preliminarily adjudicated to be obscene. Plaintiff chal​lenged the constitutionality of the statute on the grounds that: (1) it does not mandate a post-seizure adversary hearing on the obscenity of the seized material, and (2) it fails to limit the quantity of items seized to one copy per item. The district court found the statute constitutional. Although the court read federal case law to require that a person aggrieved by such a search must in fact be provided with a post-seizure hearing on obscenity upon a proper request, see Heller v. New York, 413 U.S. 483 (1973), and Fort Wayne Books v. Indiana, 489 U.S. 46, 62 (1989), a state need not provide for such a hearing in its statutes. It is enough that a hearing would be provided if requested, and plaintiff here did not request it. Similarly, a statute need not specify that seizure of allegedly obscene material for evidence be limited to a single copy; however, the court agreed that the state should return to plaintiff any extra copies seized in this search. B.A.P. v. McCulloch, 994 F.Supp. 1331 (E.D. Missouri 1998).xe "B.A.P. v. McCulloch, 994 F.Supp. 1331 (E.D. Missouri 1998)."
New York district court holds that NYPD’s failure to provide vehicle lienholder with notice and a hearing before forfeiting and selling vehicles violated due process. (680) Ford Motor Credit sued to challenge the legality of the New York City Police Department's procedures for retaining and disposing of seized automobiles, claiming that it is routinely deprived of its property interests in liens it possesses on seized vehicles without due process of law. The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. The Property Clerk of the NYPD is empowered by Section 14-140(b) of the New York City Administrative Code to maintain custody of “[a]ll property or money taken from the person or possession of a prisoner,” as well as “all property or money suspected of having been used as a means of committing crime or employed in aid or furtherance of a crime.” When NYPD officers seize a vehicle in connection with an arrest, they issue a voucher to the arrestee. The Property Clerk sends notice of the seizure to the titled owner, the registrant and any lienholder to inform them of the seizure. Within 120 days of the termination of a criminal proceeding related to the seized vehicle, a proper claimant may bring a demand to recover the vehicle. The Property Clerk will only entertain a demand for a vehicle made by a valid claimant, i.e., “the person from whose person or possession property, other than contraband, was taken or obtained....” The procedure for making a demand is contained on the back of the voucher provided to the arrestee and the back of the notice that the Property Clerk sends to the titled owner, registrant and lienholder. When a claimant makes a demand for a vehicle, the Property Clerk may either release the vehicle or institute forfeiture proceedings within 25 days of the claim. If the Property Clerk pursues forfeiture, however, it does not notify any lienholders and does not include lienholders as defendants in the relevant proceedings. When forfeiture is successful, the Property Clerk may sell the forfeited vehicle. The Property Clerk publishes general notice of an auction sale date—that does not include any specific information regarding which vehicles are to be sold—in the City Record and on the Police Department's website. A lienholder is not specifically notified in advance of a sale, nor provided information concerning the amount realized in the sale after the fact. Nevertheless, the lienholder's security interest is extinguished upon sale, as the purchaser takes the vehicle free and clear of any lien. The Property Clerk permits the lienholder on a vehicle whose lien has been extinguished to seek up to 90% of the proceeds of the sale of that vehicle in satisfaction of the related debt within one year of the sale by submitting an Auction Proceeds Claim Form, as well as an executed General Release with Indemnification Agreement, which broadly indemnifies the Property Clerk and the NYPD. The Property Clerk retains 10% of the auction proceeds purportedly to cover the administrative costs it incurs in storing and selling vehicles. The parties disputed whether New York law provides a mechanism whereby a lienholder can obtain title to a vehicle that secures a default. On hearing of the cross-motions, the court found that prior to depriving a person of a property interest, the government must provide some kind of hearing, that it is well-settled that a lien is a constitutionally protectable property interest, and the extinguishment of Ford Credit's liens without any meaningful procedural accommodations was a violation of Ford Credit's due process. Thus, the court held that Ford Credit must be given notice and an opportunity to be heard in a timely manner in connection with forfeiture proceedings, including notice within a reasonable time following the sale of a vehicle in which Ford Credit held a security interest. The court also held that it need not gauge the proportionality of the 10% deduction, because it is plainly not punitive and therefore not subject to Eighth Amendment analysis. The deduction itself is remedial because it is imposed to compensate the City for administrative expenses incurred in the disposition of the vehicles. Ford Motor Credit Co. v. New York City Police Dep't., ___ F.Supp.2d ___, 2005 WL 2542906 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (Oct 11, 2005).

New York District Court says failure to advise owner of procedure to recover seized property violates due process. (680) New York police seized plaintiff’s car, but allegedly failed to provide him with a voucher for the vehicle or any notice of the procedures for seeking return of his property. Plaintiff filed suit pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, alleging due process violations. The voucher requirement and other procedures were mandated by the Second Circuit over twenty-five years ago in McClendon v. Rosetti, 460 F.2d 111 (2d Cir. 1972). The City of New York has never modified its administrative code to reflect the requirements of McClendon. Therefore, the city’s failure to provide either actual notice of the procedures for return of property, or constructive notice of those procedures in the form of updated legislation, supported an inference of an unconstitutional pattern and practice by the City sufficient to defeat defendant’s motion for summary judgment on the §1983 claim. [Ed. Note: This case was decided before the Supreme Court issued its opinion in City of West Covina v. Perkins, 119 S.Ct. 678 (1999), in which the Court held that police need not notify owners of seized property of the procedural avenues for its return.] Mackey v. Property Clerk of the New York City Police Department, 26 F.Supp.2d 585 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).xe "Mackey v. Property Clerk of the New York City Police Department, 26 F.Supp.2d 585 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)."
Article compares Supreme Court’s due process analysis in forfeiture and punitive damages cases. (680) Professor Susan R. Klein performs an intriguing comparative analysis of two recent Supreme Court decisions involving due process, Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1997) (upholding forfeiture of vehicle in which husband received prostitution services despite innocent owner claim of his wife), and BMW v. Gore, 116 S.Ct. 1589 (1996) (overturning $2 million punitive damages award against auto company for selling repainted auto as new). Professor Klein maintains that the outcomes of the two cases are irreconcilable. She argues that Bennis was wrongly decided, con​tending that none of the rationales for upholding forfeiture of jointly owned property—historical practice, vicarious liability, liability for negligent bailment, and availability of marital property to satisfy debts of either spouse—is sufficient to overcome the injustice and irrationality of punishing an innocent property owner. The Court was markedly more solicitous of the due process interests of BMW, a multi-billion-dollar multi-national corporation found to have engaged in misconduct. Klein concludes that the two cases signify the Court’s “inability to agree on the existence and contours of substantive due process, to develop a test which distinguishes between remedial and punitive sanctions, and to apply substantive due process rigorously to legislation in the criminal area.” Susan R. Klein, The Discriminatory Application of Substantive Due Process: A Tale of Two Vehicles, 1997 U. Ill. L. Rev. (1997).xe "Klein, Susan R., The Discriminatory Application of Substantive Due Process\: A Tale of Two Vehicles, 1997 U. Ill. L. Rev. (1997)." 

Author suggests threshold test for applying excessive fines analysis to forfeiture cases. (680) This article analyzes the Supreme Court’s decision in Bennis v. Michigan, 516 U.S. 442, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1997) (upholding against a due process challenge the forfeiture of vehicle in which husband received prostitution services against innocent owner claim of his wife). The Court in Bennis relied on the historical “guilty property” fiction, and its finding that forfeiture of the car was not punishment of Mrs. Bennis, to find no due process violation in Michigan’s taking of Mrs. Bennis’ share of the car. Author Eric N. Berquist urges application of Eighth Amendment excessive fines analysis to “inno​cent owner” cases. Since excessiveness can only be measured by investigating “the relationship between the owner, the property, and the misuse [of the property],” Berquist suggests that a court must identify a “point of decision” at which the allegedly innocent claimant chose to permit the use of his property that rendered it forfeitable. If no such point exists, the forfeiture would be excessive. If such a point exists, the court should consider the extent of the claimant’s culpability, or at least negligence, in determining whether the forfeiture was excessive. Eric Berquist, Note: Statutory In Rem Civil Forfeiture, the Punishment of Innocent Owners, and the Excessive Fines Clause: An Analysis of Bennis v. Michigan, 76 Neb. L. Rev. 155 (1997).xe "Eric Berquist, Note\: Statutory In Rem Civil Forfeiture, the Punishment of Innocent Owners, and the Excessive Fines Clause\: An Analysis of Bennis v. Michigan, 76 Neb. L. Rev. 155 (1997)."
Student author criticizes result of Bennis v. Michigan. (680) This article examines the Supreme Court’s decision in Bennis v. Michigan, 116 S.Ct. 994 (1997) (upholding forfeiture of vehicle in which husband received prostitution services despite innocent owner claim of his wife). Author Jacob M. Hilton begins with an historical review of U.S. forfeiture law. He then analyzes the Bennis opinion, concluding that the Court relied primarily on invocations of stare decisis to reach its decision that the forfeiture of Tina Bennis’ interest in the car violated neither the Due Process nor Takings Clauses. Hilton contends that the Court “hid behind inapposite precedent,” ignored the contrary precedent of Austin v. U.S., 509 U.S. 602 (1993), “mischar​acterized the nature of forfeiture proceedings,” and “failed to consider fundamental fairness in applying the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.” Jacob M. Hilton, Note: Keep Him On a Short Leash: Innocence of Owner Not a Defense to Forfeiture of Property Allegedly Connected to Illegal Conduct: Bennis v. Michigan, 28 Tex. Tech. L. Rev. 133 (1997).
